
Resources Department
Town Hall, Upper Street, London, N1 2UD

AGENDA FOR THE HOUSING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Members of the Housing Scrutiny Committee are summoned to Committee Room 1, Town 
Hall, Upper Street, N1 2UD - Islington Town Hall on, 23 April 2019 at 7.30 pm.

Lesley Seary 
Chief Executive 

Enquiries to : Ola Adeoye
Tel : 020 7527 3044
E-mail : democracy@islington.gov.uk
Despatched : 15 April 2019

Membership Substitute Members

Councillor Michael O'Sullivan (Chair)
Councillor Sue Lukes (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Theresa Debono
Councillor Troy Gallagher
Councillor Mouna Hamitouche  MBE
Councillor Gary Heather
Councillor Roulin Khondoker
Councillor Ben Mackmurdie
Councillor Caroline Russell
Rose Marie McDonald (Resident Observer)
Dean Donaghey (Resident Observer)

Councillor Jilani Chowdhury
Councillor Tricia Clarke
Councillor Vivien Cutler
Councillor Osh Gantly
Councillor Satnam Gill OBE
Councillor Matt Nathan
Councillor Angela Picknell
Councillor Marian Spall

Quorum is 4 Councillors

Public Document Pack



A. Formal Matters Page

1. Apologies for Absence

2. Declaration of Substitute Members

3. Declarations of Interests

If you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest* in an item of business:
 if it is not yet on the council’s register, you must declare both the 

existence and details of it at the start of the meeting or when it 
becomes apparent;

 you may choose to declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest that is 
already in the register in the interests of openness and transparency.  

In both the above cases, you must leave the room without participating in 
discussion of the item.

If you have a personal interest in an item of business and you intend to speak 
or vote on the item you must declare both the existence and details of it at the 
start of the meeting or when it becomes apparent but you may participate in 
the discussion and vote on the item.

*(a) Employment, etc - Any employment, office, trade, profession or 
vocation carried on for profit or gain.

(b)Sponsorship - Any payment or other financial benefit in respect of your 
expenses in carrying out duties as a member, or of your election; including 
from a trade union.

(c) Contracts - Any current contract for goods, services or works, between 
you or your partner (or a body in which one of you has a beneficial interest) 
and the council.

(d) Land - Any beneficial interest in land which is within the council’s area.
(e) Licences- Any licence to occupy land in the council’s area for a month or 

longer.
(f) Corporate tenancies - Any tenancy between the council and a body in 

which you or your partner have a beneficial interest.
 (g) Securities - Any beneficial interest in securities of a body which has a 

place of business or land in the council’s area, if the total nominal value of 
the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that body or of any one class of its issued share capital.  

This applies to all members present at the meeting.
 
 

4. Minutes of Previous Meeting 1 - 6

5. Chair's Report

6. Order of Business



7. Public Questions

For members of the public to ask questions relating to any subject on the 
meeting agenda under Procedure Rule 70.5. Alternatively, the Chair may 
opt to accept questions from the public during the discussion on each 
agenda item.
 

B. Items for Decision/Discussion Page

1. Housing Services for Vulnerable People Review - 12-month report back 7 - 26

2. Further Development of the Responsive Repairs Service - Final Report

3. Work Programme 2018/19 27 - 28

C. Urgent non-exempt items (if any)

Any non- exempt items which the Chair agrees should be considered 
urgent by reason of special circumstances. The reasons for urgency will 
be agreed by the Chair and recorded in the minutes.
 

D. Exclusion of press and public

To consider whether, in view of the nature of the remaining items on the 
agenda, any of them are likely to involve the disclosure of exempt or 
confidential information within the terms of the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules in the Constitution and, if so, whether to exclude the 
press and public during discussion thereof.
 

E. Confidential/exempt items Page

F. Urgent exempt items (if any)

Any exempt items which the Chair agrees should be considered urgently 
by reason of special circumstances. The reasons for urgency will be 
agreed by the Chair and recorded in the minutes.

The next meeting of the Housing Scrutiny Committee will be on 10 June 2019



This page is intentionally left blank



1

London Borough of Islington

Housing Scrutiny Committee -  19 March 2019

Minutes of the meeting of the Housing Scrutiny Committee held at Committee Room 4, 
Town Hall, Upper Street, N1 2UD - Islington Town Hall on  19 March 2019 at 7.30 pm.

Present: Councillors:

Co-optees:

O'Sullivan (Chair), Lukes (Vice-Chair), Gallagher, 
Heather, Khondoker, Russell, 

McDonald and Donaghey

Councillor Michael O'Sullivan in the Chair

71 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE (Item 1)
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Mackmurdie

72 DECLARATION OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS (Item 2)
There were no declarations of substitute members.

73 DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS (Item 3)
There were no declarations of interest. 

74 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (Item 4)

RESOLVED:
That the minutes of the meeting held on 12 February 2019 be confirmed as an accurate 
record of proceedings and the Chair be authorised to sign them.

75 CHAIR'S REPORT (Item 5)
The Chair informed members that he recently an event at the Centre Point where he 
received a presentation regarding young people and homelessness which was very 
informative and could be fed into the committee’s review on this issue.

76 ORDER OF BUSINESS (Item 6)
The order of business would be as per the agenda.

77 PUBLIC QUESTIONS (Item 7)
None

78 SCRUTINY REVIEW - DRAFT RECOMMENDATION ( HOMELESSNESS) (Item 
B1)
On the issue of homelessness, the meeting was informed that although community groups 
had been invited to share their experiences and questionnaires sent, the Committee had not 
been able to obtain any responses or information to collate.  In addition Councillors who had 
participated in the street count in December 2018 had not been able to share their evidence 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



Housing Scrutiny Committee -  19 March 2019

2

with the committee.

The meeting was also informed that in light of the above factors and the committee not 
being able to fully consider the Housing Reduction Act and the Council’s Homeless 
Strategy, a decision has been taken with the permission of the Chair that the review be 
included in the work programme in the 2019/2020 municipal year.

Members agreed that an informal group of three councillors be set up to continue with the 
review especially as evidence nationally clearly indicate that with the continuing economic 
uncertainties this was a serious issue that needs to be addressed.

The informal group of 3 councillors would carry out visits, speak to and receive  evidence 
from community groups in line with what has been agreed in the Scrutiny Initiation 
Document during the summer months with a view to producing draft recommendations by 
the autumn of 2019.

Councillors Lukes, O’Sullivan and Khondoker agreed to be on the Informal group to 
continue the review into Homelessness.

RESOLVED:

1. That an informal group of three councillors continue with the review into 
Homelessness and report back to the committee its activities and findings by the 
autumn of 2019.

2. Councillors Lukes, O’Sullivan and Khondoker will be members of the informal group.

79 SCRUTINY REVIEW - DRAFT RECOMMENDATION ( RESPONSIVE 
REPAIRS) (Item B2)
A copy of the draft recommendations was circulated at the meeting for consideration. The 
Chair informed the meeting that the draft recommendations before Members was not an 
exhaustive list and welcomed any additional recommendations to be submitted to the clerk 
of the committee. 

RESOLVED: 

That the draft recommendations be noted, subject to including an additional 
recommendation which will read: ‘The Service needs to focus on a detailed analysis of the 
root causes of service failures within the population of repair jobs not completed first time to 
identify the reasons for failure and put in place measures such as systems approach 
thinking to correct these failures.

80 FIRE SAFETY IN COUNCIL HOUSING - EXECUTIVE MEMBER RESPONSE TO 
RECOMMENDATION (Item B3)
The Chair took welcomed Maxine Holdsworth, Islington’s Corporate Director of Housing 
following her stint at Kensington and Chelsea Council in the aftermath of the Grenfell fire 
incident in 2017. 

During consideration of the report, the following points were made: 

 With regards to the recommendation about sprinklers, meeting was advised 
although not a panacea, concerns still remain about safety, its maintenance and 
vandalism. The Director assured the meeting that Council is currently carrying out a 

Page 2



Housing Scrutiny Committee -  19 March 2019

3

full appraisal of this issue and work is ongoing with the implementation of wet risers 
in high rise buildings which will be done in conjunction with fire safety guidelines.

 On the issue of safety around communal areas in buildings, members welcomed the 
provision of cycle hangers on council estates but that it should not be at the expense 
of resident safety. Councillor Ward indicated that he would look into this issue in 
conjunction with concerns raised about request for keys. 

 Members welcomed the support of the Council’s SHINE support network and use of 
other services such as SHP or social services to vulnerable residents.

 In response to concerns about evacuation plans of vulnerable people and caretakers 
not having a list of those in need, the Corporate Director Housing reassured 
members that with over 35000 properties, a new approach is required that looks at 
high complex risks. Council is currently working with the fire service to identify tall 
buildings with complex layouts on areas where assistance would be required by 
residents.

 With regard to recommendation 1, it was noted that although the Grenfell Tower 
inquiry is still ongoing, things were being done especially with the Council 
considering the potential implications of the Hackitt review into the regulatory 
framework relating to fire safety.

 Recommendation 2 – An interim report detailing actions that the Council will carry 
out following fire safety related reviews will be brought back to the Housing Scrutiny 
Committee in due course. Members requested that fire risk assessment registers for 
all high rise buildings be updated in other to provide some reassurance to residents. 

 Recommendation 5 –The Corporate Director Housing acknowledged that although 
PEEPs are noticeable in work places buildings, its effectiveness was  still dependent 
on the presence of a member of staff to execute the plan, however following advice 
from the Fire Services, Premises Information Boxes which is to help direct 
firefighters to vulnerable tenants in residential blocks is being piloted at Braithwaite 
House, Perth House, Selkirk House and Fyfield.

 Recommendation 6 – The view was expressed that with regards to properties being 
managed by Partners for Improvement and plans to bring it back in house, the 
Committee should consider reviewing Partners evacuation plans to ensure it is in 
line with the Council’s.

 Recommendation 10 – Members requested that the issue of retro fitting of sprinklers 
be revisited by Council. 

 Recommendation 12 – Members welcomed the policy of zero tolerance in respect of 
resident belongings being stored in the common areas. On the issue of obtaining 
keys to street properties and the anxiety among residents, members requested that 
the issue be revisited.

 Recommendation 15 – Members were reassured that in cases of hoarding 
especially caused by vulnerable people, mobile sprinklers will be installed.

 Recommendation 17 – On the issue of regular inspections of communal fire safety 
doors, the Corporate Director of Housing indicated that this issue will be looked into 

Page 3



Housing Scrutiny Committee -  19 March 2019

4

further.

 With regards to Recommendation 4:21, the Corporate Director Housing informed the 
meeting that her responsibility at Kensington and Chelsea was not related to fire 
safety issues but with re-housing of tenants affected by the fire. In addition members 
were made aware of potential conflict of interest in inviting Chelsea and Kensington 
officers to give evidence as the inquiry was still ongoing. Members agreed to remove 
this recommendation.

The Chair thanked the Corporate Director Housing on her contribution and requested 
that in light of the importance of fire safety on all council buildings that a further update 
be scheduled in the work programme for the 2019/20 municipal year.

RESOLVED:

1. That, subject to the above comments, the report be noted

2. A report on fire safety be brought back to the committee next year for a further 
update.

81 QUARTERLY REVIEW OF HOUSING PERFORMANCE (Q3 2018/19) (Item 
B4)
Councillor Diarmaid Ward, Executive Member for Housing and Development, introduced the 
quarterly performance report. 

The following main points were noted in the discussion:

 Members were informed of two new indicators to be reported quarterly; the number 
of affordable homes completed by developers and the total number of affordable 
homes. Members were advised that the Council is on target of building 1900 new 
homes by 2022, of which 550 will be Council homes. Members were reminded that 
the supply of homes is secured through its S106 legal agreements with developers. 

 The Executive Member advised that the first time fixes of 81% was below the 85% 
target however the Council continues to aim to do better. 

 With regards to the rent arrears of 2.9%, the meeting was advised that this was 
solely due to the impact of the implementation of the Universal credit.

 On the issue of homelessness, the meeting was informed that the council is meeting 
its objective to reduce homelessness through its partnership working and the 
Trailblazer initiative, however members were reminded that the funding received 
from central government was limited.  Meeting was advised that insufficient supply 
of affordable housing and the removal of assured short-hold tenancies in the private 
sector such as housing associations still remain the reasons for an increase in 
homelessness and only a change in government policy would result in an 
improvement. 

 Members were advised that the Homeless Reduction Act has resulted in additional 
duties and responsibility on local authorities without additional funding support. 

 Members were informed of the success of the multi skill training of the operatives, a 
positive initiative which well received by both the operatives as a career 

Page 4



Housing Scrutiny Committee -  19 March 2019

5

development and by residents. 

 Meeting was informed that the Council currently has 6 apprentices and 2 new 
trainee surveyors with emphasis on local residents. 
 

 In response to the Chair request for a detailed report on the 19 % of repair works 
that required multiple visits by operatives and the reasons, the Executive Member 
for Housing indicated that he would look into this and report back.

 In terms of affordable homes, the Executive Member advised that affordable is a 
statutory definition which the council does not recognise. In terms of the Council’s 
planning permissions any development planned, of the 50% described as affordable, 
35% must be genuinely affordable for social or council rent and the rest intermediate 
housing such as shared ownership.

 With regards to concerns about housing associations in the borough disposing their 
housing assets and using the proceeds to build homes in other parts of the country, 
the Executive Member Housing reassured members that the council would only 
dispose assets that were in a serious in a state of disrepair and would expect similar 
standards but had no control in how they manage their assets. The Executive 
Member Housing informed that he would be raise this issue with representatives of 
Clarion Housing and seeking their explanation. 

 On the issue of damp and mould, Councillor Russell mentioned a project that the 
GLA and a RSL had been involved in to address this issue and would circulate the 
details to Officers. 

 The meeting was informed that despite reassurances received from the Managing 
Director of Partners Improvement at the last committee meeting in February, neither 
him or any of his senior management team attended the leaseholders forum meeting 
held which was held in March.

RESOLVED:
That the progress to the end of quarter 2 against key performance indicators be noted. 

The meeting ended at 9.35 pm

CHAIR

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 19

Housing Directorate
222 Upper Street, N1 1XR

Report of: Executive Member for Housing and Development
 

Meeting of: Date: Ward(s):

Housing Scrutiny Committee 23 April 2019 All

Delete as appropriate Exempt Non-exempt

SUBJECT: Housing Scrutiny Review of services for vulnerable people – Executive Member response – 12-
month update on recommendations

1. Synopsis

1.1 

 
1.2
  

On 4th January 2018, the Executive agreed a report from the Housing Scrutiny Committee about their review of housing service provided to 
vulnerable residents.  The report highlighted 14 recommendations to improve housing services to vulnerable residents.

This report updates the Housing Scrutiny Committee on work carried out by Housing Services to meet the recommendations of the original scrutiny 
report and outlines future work to improve services to vulnerable residents.

2. Background 

2.1 In September 2016, the Housing Scrutiny Committee started a review looking at the effectiveness of the housing services provided to vulnerable 
people.

2.2 The main objectives of the review were:

P
age 7

A
genda Item

 B
1



Page 2 of 19

 To identify and assess the housing options and additional housing services available to vulnerable people
 To confirm that the council’s services are accessible to vulnerable people
 To assess how vulnerable people and their particular needs are identified by Housing Services.

3. 12-month update on Recommendations

Recommendation Response to Recommendations What we have done over the past 12 months and future plans

Recommendation 1 - Housing 
Services should clarify their 
definitions of vulnerability and 
disability, and how these relate 
to each other.

The review highlighted that Housing Services 
should strive to know more about their residents 
and in terms of disability and vulnerability.  
Currently, disability and health conditions are 
categorised on iWorld (the housing management 
database) and staff can view these details when 
accessing resident records.  The existing 
categories are being reviewed with a view to 
making them more meaningful.

More importantly, it is planned to add additional 
information to the database that will show what 
service adjustments staff need to make to meet the 
needs of the resident as a result of their disability or 
vulnerability (e.g. wait longer at someone’s door for 
an answer or make contact with resident through 
carer or support worker). This may entail some 
specific development to the iWorld database.

Work is currently underway to understand how we define 
vulnerability; particularly from a strength-based approach. Not all 
disabled people are vulnerable, and not all vulnerable people are 
disabled and we are keen to make this distinction.  People can 
move in and out of vulnerability depending on their circumstances. 
Underlying disability or vulnerability needs to be understood in the 
context of the surrounding environment and situations that can 
affect a person’s ability to cope. Due to this, we are working 
towards clearer definitions and recording methods that reflect this 
reality.  The way Housing Services has historically recorded 
information about disability/vulnerability has been very rigid and 
has not taken account of how residents’ needs can change over 
time or what service adjustments we can make to ensure that all 
residents receive the best possible service.

The Homes and Communities Division is looking to implement 
strength-based practice, that recognises the challenges and 
vulnerabilities of residents alongside the strengths, resilience and 
support networks residents have to mitigate need. 

To kick off this process off we are currently appraising 
disability/vulnerability information held on iWorld (the Housing 
Management IT system).   At present, there are approximately 
3000 tenants who are recorded as being “vulnerable” at some 
point; but there is sometimes no other information held against 
them to denote their level or type vulnerability, or if they still have a 
vulnerability.  

We will investigate the feasibility of reviewing this information with a 
view to amending anything which is incorrect or no longer relevant. 

P
age 8



Page 3 of 19

Recommendation Response to Recommendations What we have done over the past 12 months and future plans

Recommendation 1 (cont) We appreciate that more work is required to make the information 
we hold more meaningful and fully implement a system that records 
vulnerability in a useful way.  

Benchmarking has been carried out with other local authorities to 
try and identify good practice on gathering information about 
resident vulnerabilities. This has shown that most of the other 
councils contacted record this information in a similar way to 
Islington and have faced the same challenges in changing the way 
they gather and use information of this type.

Housing staff held a ‘Vulnerability Task and Finish’ in October 2018 
group comprised of officers from across the council and a wider 
partnership has been convened to develop this work further.   This 
group will look to devise a resilience/vulnerability matrix that 
considers possible vulnerabilities, including disability alongside 
adversity and environmental factors that can affect a resident’s life 
and impact on their well-being. This will help us measure 
vulnerability and allow us to respond in a more systematic way (see 
update to Recommendation 8).

Recommendation 2 - Housing 
Services should further 
publicise the shortage of 
council housing in order to set 
realistic expectations of what 
residents may be able to 
successfully bid for. It is 
recommended that 
anonymised case studies are 
used where appropriate to 
illustrate the shortage of 
housing and to help disabled 
and vulnerable people choose 
the ‘best available option’  

It is generally recognised that there is shortage of 
general needs social housing that allows vulnerable 
and disabled people to live independently.  Whilst 
the council does publicise information on the 
availability of housing and the number of points 
needed to successfully bid for housing, we intend 
to strengthen publicity by:

 Making information on the shortage of housing 
more prominent on the council’s website

 Add GIS (interactive) maps to the council’s 
website to show:
 The distribution of council properties by 

bedroom size and split by ward
 Distribution of council owned wheelchair 

and adapted properties 

GIS maps that illustrate the following information will soon be 
available on the council’s website to show:

 The distribution of council properties by bedroom size and 
split by ward

 Distribution of council owned wheelchair and adapted 
properties 

 The number of council owned lifetime homes

The maps will show information in a straightforward and 
understandable way to help staff discuss housing options with their 
customers. 

In addition, there is prominent and regularly updated information on 
the council’s website about homelessness and the lack of available 
housing compared with demand. With the introduction of the 
Homelessness Reduction Act 2017, Housing are much more 

P
age 9



Page 4 of 19

Recommendation Response to Recommendations What we have done over the past 12 months and future plans

Recommendation 2 (cont)
 The number of council owned lifetime 

homes
focused on preventing homelessness and there is clear and up to 
date information about this on the website. (see links below)

https://www.islington.gov.uk/housing/finding-a-home/homelessness

https://www.islington.gov.uk/housing/finding-a-home/council-
housing

There is also information on the council’s website that gives 
information on the number of points needed to eligible to bid for 
properties (this is also available as a leaflet) and a link to a central 
government website that compiles the number of empty properties 
and lettings made by the council in the previous year (see links 
below)

Points for bidding  

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/local-authority-housing-
data

We have, as yet, not used anonymised case studies to help explain 
the pressures on the supplies of housing in the borough, but 
housing need in terms of disability and vulnerability is fully 
assessed as part of the housing application and transfer process.

Recommendation 3 - That the 
information on housing 
services for vulnerable people 
be reviewed to provide a 
comprehensive resource, 
setting out the services 
provided by the council, 
eligibility criteria, any limits to 
that support, and advice on 
how to access services that 
the council does not provide. 
This should be provided in a 

Information about the services available for 
vulnerable people is already available on various 
parts of the council’s website. 

We will look to improving this information by 
creating a disability housing page that will pull 
information together from other parts of the 
council’s website and include links to other internal 
and external organisations that support people with 
vulnerabilities and disabilities.  We will also make 
this information available in other formats, as 
required

Information about the services available for vulnerable people is 
already available on various parts of the council’s website.  
Information on the website is reviewed at regular intervals and kept 
up to date.  We try not to duplicate information across the website, 
especially where it is applicable to more than one service area.  
The council reviewed the accessibility of its web pages in 2017 and 
the council strives to ensure that its on-line services are available to 
all residents.  The council has recently reviewed the accessibility of 
its web pages and there is now a dedicated accessibility section on 
the website – (see link below):
https://www.islington.gov.uk/accessibility

P
age 10

https://www.islington.gov.uk/housing/finding-a-home/homelessness
https://www.islington.gov.uk/housing/finding-a-home/council-housing
https://www.islington.gov.uk/housing/finding-a-home/council-housing
https://www.islington.gov.uk/~/media/sharepoint-lists/public-records/housing/information/leaflets/20182019/20180921pointsforhousingregisterpropertiesandoptionsforapplicants2018.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/local-authority-housing-data
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/local-authority-housing-data
https://www.islington.gov.uk/accessibility


Page 5 of 19

Recommendation Response to Recommendations What we have done over the past 12 months and future plans

range of accessible formats, as 
required by legislation

The council also has an online directory which brings together all 
the contact information for services to support residents of the 
borough.  There is a Housing Support and Services section in the 
directory that lists five pages of information and support 
organisations in the borough available to residents - (see link 
below):

Finding Support  - Islington Directory

Housing Services are currently applying for accreditation for their 
domestic abuse services from the Domestic Abuse Housing 
Alliance (DAHA).  Housing recognises disability, frailty, substance 
and alcohol dependency and mental health issues all raise the risk 
that someone will experience domestic abuse. This may come from 
someone living in their household or from a partner.

According to research, disabled women are twice as likely to 
experience domestic violence as non-disabled women. The abuse 
they experience is likely to continue for a longer time and their 
injuries also tend to be more serious. Disabled men are also at 
higher risk of domestic abuse. 

It is harder for disabled people to defend themselves, get help and 
get away from the abuse. When one person in a relationship or 
household is disabled it is easier for the abuser to get away with 
the abuse. 
Ill health or a disability may prevent a person leaving their abusive 
situation if they depend on their abuser’s help and support with 
care. They may fear being placed in institutional accommodation or 
becoming isolated in the home. Their disability may make it difficult 
for them to reach out to sources of support, especially if their 
disability affects their ability to speak or communicate. Housing will 
ensure that it develops a system for dealing with domestic abuse 
that benefits all residents and recognises the specific challenges 
disabled and vulnerable residents can face as survivors of 
domestic abuse. We are due to be accredited by DAHA in spring 
2019.

P
age 11

http://directory.islington.gov.uk/kb5/islington/directory/adult.page?adultchannelnew=3


Page 6 of 19

Recommendation Response to Recommendations What we have done over the past 12 months and future plans

Recommendation 3 (cont) As of December 2018, Housing are reviewing all their pages and 
information held on the council’s website and will create a specific 
disability page, or section, which we intend to be in place by April 
2019.  We will also be creating a Domestic Abuse page for the 
housing part of the website that will set out our pledge to support 
survivors of abuse.  We will continue to provide hard copy 
information in a variety of formats on request.

Recommendation 4 - Key 
online customer processes be 
reviewed to identify and close 
gaps in accessibility. All 
housing transactions should be 
able to be carried out without 
use of a telephone or having to 
visit council offices; the 
introduction of a web chat 
function would be welcomed. 
However, it should also be 
recognised that exclusively 
online services are not 
accessible to all. 

The council strives to ensure that its on-line 
services are available to all residents.  The council 
has recently reviewed the accessibility of its web 
pages and there is now a dedicated accessibility 
section on the website, which includes BSL videos 
about key services (e.g. housing benefit appeals 
and choice based lettings). There is also a “BSL 
Live” function that allows BSL users to 
communicate in real time with the council.  The 
council’s website also provides information on 
various methods people can use to make 
accessing information easier, such as:

 Increasing the size of text on web pages
 Magnifying the screen
 Making IT devices to talk to users 

Housing Services will involve the Disability Housing 
Panel when reviewing or investigating the feasibility 
of moving more housing services on-line and will 
investigate the feasibility of providing a web-chat 
function for some services.

Housing will also consider setting up more e-forms 
for service requests and will promote the use of 
existing e-forms more widely.

Housing is working towards enabling digital self-serve for council 
tenants and leaseholders. This will mean that those who can 
access the internet will benefit from access to online rent and 
service charge account management, along with the ability to 
access other housing management services online. Residents will 
be empowered to manage their accounts at times suitable to them. 
We are planning for this to go live, on a phased basis, during the 
second half of 2019.

All tenants are currently able to report non-emergency repairs on-
line and improvements in IT enabling tenants to change 
appointments for repairs they have raised on-line was launched in 
2018.

In the past 12 months we have looked at all housing management 
processes and procedures where tenants need to make an 
application to Housing for permission to do something (e.g. apply 
for satellite dish or take in a lodger) to see if these processes can 
be automated and moved fully on-line.  This will take some time but 
we are working with the council’s Digital Services Team to progress 
this.

The Homes and Communities Division has proposed the 
implementation of an additional module to the Housing 
Management IT System. This module would create a housing 
customer portal, which would connect to My eAccount bringing 
additional on-line benefits for council residents. Residents would be 
able to make requests, see selected information, see rent 
balances, set preferred communications methodology and provide 
any information they wanted to share about 

P
age 12



Page 7 of 19

Recommendation Response to Recommendations What we have done over the past 12 months and future plans

Recommendation 4 (cont) vulnerabilities/disabilities or changes in their circumstances. There 
is a cost to buying this module and Housing have prepared a 
business case for this.  This module will link into other IT systems 
in other parts of Housing.

We have investigated implementing web-chat for the housing 
repairs service.  Islington Digital Services have advised that the 
development of web chat should form part of the wider Islington 
2020 project.  It is anticipated that including web chat within this 
corporate solution will ensure that web chat will be available to all 
residents across a number of different council services.  Web chat 
will be particularly helpful for residents who are deaf or hard of 
hearing.

While we recognise the benefits of on-line services for a lot of 
residents, we will still offer a more traditional service to those who 
would face barriers to taking up on-line services. This is to ensure 
services remain available to everyone who needs them. 

Recommendation 5 - The 
council should review its 
information governance 
responsibilities and data 
sharing agreements to ensure 
that the support needs of 
residents are known to the 
services that need this 
information. It is important that 
housing services and 
contractors can access 
residents’ data securely to 
enable them to provide high 
quality services to vulnerable 
people.

Housing Services will work with other sections in 
the council to identify ways of sharing information 
more effectively in a way that will be of benefit to 
residents with disabilities or vulnerabilities.

It is acknowledged that residents who tell Housing 
Services about their disability or vulnerability feel 
frustrated if they have to repeat this information to 
other sections in the council, but staff have to follow 
data protection guidelines when sharing information 
and will need to take account of more stringent 
data sharing requirements with the introduction of 
the General Data Protection Regulation, which 
comes into force in May 2018

Improved information sharing agreements between Housing and 
Adult Social Services and Housing and Camden and Islington 
Mental Health Services have been agreed in the past year.  These 
meet GDPR compliance but also improve how we share data for 
the benefit of residents.  These agreements are much clearer about 
when staff can share information and what level of information can 
be shared.  This will allow the flow of information between services 
to be easier, but staff are also aware that information should be 
shared on a “need to know“ basis and there must be a legitimate 
reason for sharing the information that will allow us to provide a 
better service to a resident. Data sharing agreements have been 
reached with a number of the council’s support partners. We will 
continue to expand these agreements to ensure they cover all 
arears where we share resident information.

In terms of sharing resident data more widely across services, this 
will only likely be achieved through some sort of digital solution. 
Public Health are working on combining data sets from across the 
council but this is still very much in the development stage.  If this is 

P
age 13



Page 8 of 19

Recommendation Response to Recommendations What we have done over the past 12 months and future plans

Recommendation 5 (cont) achieved, it is likely that combined data would only available at a 
geographic area (e.g. by ward), rather than broken down to 
individual level.  However, this would allow us to measure need in 
different areas and target services appropriately.

We share resident information with contractors who are carrying 
out works on estates. This is done securely and in line with data 
protection requirements.  Contractors are made aware of how we 
expect them to store of and use resident data.

Our response to Recommendation 12 of this report gives more 
detail on how we work with our contractors and the standards we 
expect of them.

Recommendation 6 - 
Consideration be given to how 
the voices of vulnerable people 
can be heard earlier in 
decision-making processes on 
procurement, commissioning 
and designing services; and 
how vulnerable people can be 
further involved in service 
monitoring and evaluation

Housing Services are working with the Housing 
Disability Panel to ensure that future panel 
meetings are more structured so that panel 
members have more opportunity to get involved in 
the design of services and give better feedback on 
existing services. 

Some future meetings will focus on co-production 
where we invite panel members to get involved in 
designing services at the design, concept or 
proposal stage. Other meetings will give panel 
members the opportunity to scrutinise and evaluate 
existing services and give recommendations for 
improvement.

Housing have provided a small amount of extra funding to the 
Housing Disability Panel (HDP) to pilot working in a different way 
with residents to help them improve services by co-design.  The 
HDP ran an event on the Marquess Estate to find out the 
experiences of disabled residents living there and will be gathering 
the views of disabled residents’ experiences of the housing repairs 
service in 2019.  Feedback from these events will be used to inform 
and improve the services to residents.

Homes and Communities are currently undergoing a process of 
transformation to deliver the ambitions set out in its 3-year service 
plan. As part of this, opportunities for co-production and co-design 
of the new service model with residents will be explored.  

Homes and Communities priorities are:

 Being proactive and person centred – Building strong, 
meaningful, and person centred relationships with residents, 
enabling staff to intervene early, appropriately and effectively to 
support residents to achieve improved outcomes in the areas of 
jobs, money, health and well-being and belonging

 Working in Partnership – Working effectively in partnership with 
the voluntary and community sector and statutory services to 
enable residents to navigate, access and engage with and 

P
age 14



Page 9 of 19

Recommendation Response to Recommendations What we have done over the past 12 months and future plans

Recommendation 6 (cont) benefit from the full range of services and support that enables 
residents to thrive connect and give

In October, we held a successful focus group with residents in 
preparation for the procurement of two major works contracts.  The 
focus group was made up of a variety of residents, including those 
with disabilities.  The focus group concentrated on the customer 
care elements of the procurement (e.g. how the new capital 
programme delivery contractors would meet the needs of residents 
while they are on site and take account of vulnerabilities and 
disabilities). The feedback from the focus groups will be used to 
help develop the specification for the new contractors to follow and 
also to set questions that contractors will be asked when they 
tender for the new contracts. The answers given by the chosen 
contractors will then form part of their contract with the council. 

We will be running a resident focus group on Universal Credit in 
early 2019 and the HDP will receive their own separate 
presentation on Universal Credit early in January 2019.

Recommendation 7 - Housing 
Services should review how 
staff are trained, kept up to 
date, and access information 
on how to best support tenants 
with additional needs. This 
review should be in 
conjunction with service users, 
to identify knowledge and skills 
gaps and agree how these 
should be resolved. Staff need 
to understand how additional 
needs will have a practical 
impact on their work and their 
interactions with residents

Housing Services will review how staff are trained 
to support residents with additional needs.  A 
training needs analysis will be carried out to assess 
the various skill sets needed for different job roles 
and we will look to embed the necessary training in 
induction for new staff and annual appraisal of 
existing staff.

The Homes and Communities Division are currently reviewing staff 
skills and training needs to ensure appropriate levels of support are 
offered, along with awareness of differing needs.

This review will help redesign the staff induction process, the 
commissioning of training through the development of a skills gap 
analysis and the re-evaluation of job descriptions and person 
specifications. The review has also formed the development of a 
framework to identify both technical skills and competencies for job 
roles to ensure we have an upskilled workforce who are specialists 
in dealing with service users of all needs.

A co-production training session took place for some Homes and 
Communities and Housing Needs and Strategy staff in October.  
Staff have also attended “Unconscious Bias” training to help avoid 
making judgments about people based on appearance and culture 
etc. and help them take a fairer and more equitable approach to 
work.

P
age 15



Page 10 of 19

Recommendation Response to Recommendations What we have done over the past 12 months and future plans

Housing Property Services staff (repair operatives, office based 
staff and representatives from a number of the contractors) have 
attended a variety of different training courses over the last 3 years 
to increase their knowledge and understanding of disability and 
vulnerability issues. This includes awareness training on Diversity, 
Mental Health, Deafness and BSL, Domestic Abuse and 
Safeguarding. In addition, front line staff have attended Customer 
Care training. 
There is further disability/vulnerability training planned for this 
division in the coming year.

All Housing Needs and Strategy staff have completed an on-line 
Equality, Inclusion and Diversity training course and this will be 
rolled out to all staff in Housing in February 2019.

All staff are now required to complete an on-line Domestic Abuse 
training course which was rolled out in January 2019.

Recommendation 8 - A 
comprehensive needs matrix 
should be developed to enable 
housing services to record the 
needs of vulnerable and 
disabled people in greater 
detail. This will help to ensure 
that staff have the right 
resources and are aware of 
how they need to adapt their 
services for those with 
additional needs

This will be addressed as part of the response to 
recommendations 1 and 7.  We will review and 
clarify our definitions of vulnerability and disability 
to help staff know what service adjustments they 
should make to improve and tailor service delivery 
more effectively to different individuals and groups. 
Through better staff training we will help staff more 
fully understand the needs of different groups and 
enable them to take a more empathetic and 
understanding approach to all residents.

Housing is developing a “resilience” matrix. We are using the term 
“resilience” as “vulnerability” can be seen as a negative term and it 
is hard to come up with one definition of vulnerability that covers 
the various needs of a wide resident base. We recognise that 
vulnerability can be fluid and people can move in an out of 
vulnerability depending on their circumstances and multiple 
external factors. We recognise that crises and life changing events 
(e.g. bereavement, losing a job) can mean than people may need 
extra support.  Examples of this could be:

 A parent who normally copes well becoming vulnerable due to 
losing their job and falling into debt and rent arrears and 
becoming isolated

 A person who becomes disabled and finds themselves living in 
unsuitable accommodation

 A person with mental health issues who suffers a bereavement 
or harassment that pushes them into a crisis situation

P
age 16



Page 11 of 19

Recommendation Response to Recommendations What we have done over the past 12 months and future plans

Recommendation 8 (contd) We recognise that vulnerability is not static and the matrix will help 
us recognise potential crisis situations or life events can affect 
individual’s ability to cope and target services and resources more 
effectively.  The matrix will take more time to develop fully but we 
are planning to have this in place during 2019.

The council’s Children’s Services currently use resilience matrixes 
in their services as do many other organisations (e.g. Age UK), so 
there is existing good practice available to learn from and build on. 

Recommendation 9 - When 
moving into a council property, 
disabled and vulnerable 
tenants should be consulted 
on the repairs and adaptations 
that are required to the 
property. The works to be 
carried out should be 
confirmed in writing with 
indicative timescales to ensure 
that both the council and the 
tenant have mutually agreed 
expectations   

Disabled and vulnerable people are given extra 
support when bidding and viewing council 
properties, where required.  Where possible 
adaptations to properties are carried out in advance 
of a new tenant moving in and timescales for this 
are negotiated with tenants.  On occasion, minor 
adaptations may be carried out shortly after a 
tenant moves in but this should not disadvantage 
the tenant.

Housing Services will work with Occupation 
Therapy services to tighten up this process to help 
ensure that tenants understand how the 
adaptations process works and will publish 
information on the council’s website to help 
manage expectations.

There are already established processes for consulting with 
disabled/vulnerable residents about adaptations to their home, 
before they move in.

 As part of the service transformation work underway in the Homes 
and Communities division, Task and Finish groups have been 
established to review the current processes around managing void 
properties. The next group meeting will take place in January 2019. 
This will include reviewing the information given to new tenants at 
sign up (the “welcome pack”), with a view to ensuring new tenants 
with additional needs receive the right help from the start of their 
tenancy and before they move into their new home. We intend to 
co-produce the new welcome pack and processes with people who 
have recently moved in to their homes. The HDP have already 
been asked to provide feedback on the revised “welcome pack”

Housing’s adaptations policy and procedure was also reviewed in 
2018 to tighten up the process for ordering and installing 
adaptations and prospective tenants are routinely consulted about 
adaptations needed to their new property before moving in. 
Disabled and vulnerable people are also given extra support when 
bidding for vacant properties where required, and are also given 
extra assistance when viewing empty properties

For some time, Housing have offered carpets to new tenants when 
they move into their new home.  In the past year we have offered 
alternative floor coverings to tenants moving into wheelchair 

P
age 17



Page 12 of 19

Recommendation Response to Recommendations What we have done over the past 12 months and future plans

Recommendation 9 (cont) adapted flats, to help them safely settle into their new homes more 
quickly.

Recommendation 10 - 
Housing services should 
publish the standards which 
they seek to meet when 
communicating and engaging 
with disabled and vulnerable 
people, and should consider 
reviewing service standards 
and feedback mechanisms 
with service users

As mentioned under recommendation 6 the 
Housing Disability Panel will be more involved in 
helping Housing Services work more effectively 
with vulnerable and disabled people. We will ask 
for the panels feedback on existing service 
standards and review them in light of the panel’s 
comments.  We will then publish any revised 
service standards on the council’s website. 

The recommendations from the current scrutiny 
review of housing communications will also help 
with the design of any revised service standards.

There is internal guidance for staff (The Communications Toolkit) 
published on the council’s intranet that sets out guidance for 
providing information in a variety of formats.  As mentioned earlier 
in this report, we will be exploring additional opportunities to co-
produce and co-design elements of services with residents as part 
of the Homes and Communities transformation work currently 
underway. 

Housing receives regular feedback from the HDP, Leasehold 
Reference Group and Housing Management and Repairs 
Reference Group.  

We will be reviewing our resident engagement structures in 2019 in 
light of the recommendations of the Social Housing Green Paper 
published in August 2018.

The Recommendations from the recent scrutiny review of housing 
communications will also help with the design of any revised 
service standards for all residents.

Recommendation 11 - In 
order to develop the 
relationship between the 
council and local communities, 
consideration should be given 
to making the Housing 
Operations service more 
‘holistic’, whereby a greater 
range of services are provided 
to residents on a more local 
basis

The Homes and Communities division (formerly 
Housing Operations) aims to provide an enhanced 
housing management service to residents. This will 
be done by getting to know residents better by 
gathering improved information on their health and 
support needs and helping improve their health and 
wellbeing, resilience and also helping them to 
better manage their finances and find employment. 

The Homes and Communities service will also work 
more closely with residents on the co-design of 
their future services. The Housing Disability Panel 
have already had opportunities to provide input into 
the new service and will have further involvement 
as the new service is developed and implemented

The recently published Homes and Communities three-year service 
plan is structured around four key themes; Jobs and Money, Health 
& Wellbeing, Belonging and Interventions, and is underpinned by a 
recognition that our services must be more person-centred, holistic 
and appropriately targeted. The 

Homes and Communities is seeking to strengthen the services 
ability to improve outcomes for residents, using a landlord 
relationship to initiate person-centred conversations and 
interventions that link residents to the range of support services 
available in the borough.

The Communities Team (in Homes and Communities) manages 
the council’s relationship with Islington’s voluntary and community 
sector, including advice services, community hubs, frontline 

P
age 18



Page 13 of 19

Recommendation Response to Recommendations What we have done over the past 12 months and future plans

Recommendation 11 (cont) services, community centre committees, Tenants and Residents 
Associations and community groups. These services, particularly 
community hubs and community centres are being supported to 
deliver holistic programmes that are promoted and communicated 
to residents. The Communities Team has supported the 
development of community centres, strengthening their offer for 
residents through partnerships with council services and the wider 
Voluntary and Community Sector (VCS). Islington’s Advice 
Services have developed an outreach model, enabling residents to 
access advice services on a more local basis. Information about 
these services is publicised to residents through a variety of 
formats including electronic notice boards and face-to-face 
communication.

An integrated advice offer has been established for tenants facing 
financial difficulty and rent arrears enabling them to access 
housing, welfare benefit and debt advice services from Islington 
Law Centre and Citizens’ Advice Islington. Work is underway to 
develop this approach to expand the direct offer of support services 
to residents facing financial challenges or experiencing poor health 
outcomes.  

Homes and Communities have delivered a locality-focused pilot in 
Tollington, bringing key partners together to improve the range and 
quality of community services delivered in the ward. The pilot has 
resulted in increased provision of services and activities at the 
Brickworks Community centre; the development of a Big Lottery 
funded place-based social action initiative; outreach and door 
knocking from Homes and Communities to promote health checks; 
increased communication and provision of Electronic Notice Boards 
across estates; partnership work with the Clinical Commissioning 
Group, local Housing Associations, and the VCS including pooled 
funding. This initiative will be evaluated in January 2019 and the 
lessons learned used to inform the Homes and Communities 
service offer in other areas of the borough.

Recommendation 12 - 
Housing Services should set 

As part of the procurement process for any new 
contract at Islington, tenderers are required to 

In order to help support existing contractors to better meet the 
needs of disabled and vulnerable residents, a guidance pack has 

P
age 19



Page 14 of 19

Recommendation Response to Recommendations What we have done over the past 12 months and future plans

clear expectations for 
contractors about working with 
disabled and vulnerable 
residents; this should include 
standards for staff training and 
accessibility. Compliance 
should be enforceable and 
regularly monitored to ensure 
that contractors are compliant 
with relevant disability 
legislation and that they are 
responsive to the needs of 
vulnerable and disabled 
people. Housing contractors 
should also be required to 
report any welfare concerns 
they have to the Housing 
Service

declare if they have in past 3 years had any 
complaint upheld against them by the Equality and 
Human Rights Commission on grounds of unlawful 
discrimination. Tenders may be rejected as non-
compliant if a complaint has been upheld and the 
council is not satisfied that sufficient measures 
have been put in place to prevent similar unlawful 
discrimination reoccurring. In addition, all tenderers 
are required, as part of their tender submission, to 
sign up to support the Islington Charter for Fairness 
and Equality. As part of the tender process, 
contractors’ submissions are partially assessed on 
how they propose, through the delivery of the 
contract, to promote equality and diversity issues 
and ensure their service offer meets the needs of 
disabled and vulnerable residents. These 
commitments form part of the contract the 
contractor has with the council. In addition, 
standard terms within the council contract require 
the contractor not to unlawfully discriminate within 
the meaning and scope of the law and any related 
regulations, including within the Equality Act 2010 
or similar.

The contractor’s performance against these 
commitments is monitored through the regular 
contract monitoring meetings during the term of 
their contract.
To support existing contractors to better meet the 
needs of disabled and vulnerable residents a 
guidance pack will be produced by Housing 
Services. The pack will be formally issued to 
contractors during a contract monitoring meeting 
and use of the pack will be a contractual 
requirement. The pack will include the following:


now been produced by Housing Property Services. This pack is 
formally issued to contractors during contract monitoring meetings 
and use of the pack is a contractual requirement. The pack 
includes the following:

 Details of revised services standards covering best practice on 
communicating with vulnerable or disabled residents.

 Details of the council’s minimum expectations with regard to 
contractor staff training on the issues of disability and 
vulnerability and how services delivered by the contractor 
should take account of different needs. Where contractors are 
unable to deliver such training the council will offer places on 
courses it delivers to its own staff. 

 A reminder for the contractors of the process they must to 
follow to report back to the council any concerns they have 
about a resident or a member of their household related to 
unmet needs and additional support required as a result of 
disability or vulnerability or safeguarding.

 Additional information is included setting out expectations and 
services available related to interpretation and translation and 
Make Every Contact Count (MECC)

This pack will continue to be revised and improved as other 
recommendations from this scrutiny review are completed.
As mentioned in the update to recommendation 6 of this report, 
residents have now been involved in setting the questions for 
tenderers for capital works contracts to help ensure that contractors 
take account of the needs of all residents when carrying out works 
to properties.

P
age 20



Page 15 of 19

Recommendation Response to Recommendations What we have done over the past 12 months and future plans

Recommendation 12 (cont)  Details of any revised services standards 
covering best practice on communicating with 
vulnerable or disabled residents.

 Details of the council’s minimum expectations 
with regard to contractor staff training on the 
issues of disability and vulnerability and how 
services delivered by the contractor should take 
account of different needs. Where contractors 
are unable to deliver such training the council 
will offer places on courses it delivers to its own 
staff. 

 Details of the process that contractors must to 
follow to report back to the council any 
concerns they have about a resident or a 
member of their household related to unmet 
needs and additional support required as a 
result of disability or vulnerability or 
safeguarding.

 Additional information will be included setting 
out expectations and services available related 
to interpretation and translation and Make 
Every Contact Count (MECC).

Recommendation 13 - Liaison 
between housing, social 
services and NHS services be 
reviewed in regards to hospital 
discharge arrangements; to 
ensure that reception centres 
and other relevant housing 
services are aware of care 
needs and that disabled and 
vulnerable people are fully 
supported  

Due the shortage of temporary accommodation, it 
can sometime be difficult to source suitable 
accommodation when a homeless person is being 
discharged from hospital at very short notice.  
Equally, when an existing council tenant is 
discharged from hospital at short notice, there may 
only be a very limited time to get necessary 
adaptations made to their property before they 
return home. 

Housing Services are working closely with Adult 
Social Services and NHS services to ensure 
hospital discharges are managed as effectively as 
possible.  Where a homeless person is being 
discharged from hospital, there is a dedicated 

We continue to review how we work with social services and NHS 
services to see how we can tighten up this process, particularly in 
relation to disabled and vulnerable residents.  We are continuing to 
work with NHS services to see if it is feasible for the hospitals to 
inform Housing at the point of admission (rather than discharge) if a 
patient is a council tenant or homeless to give Housing Services 
more time to find suitable housing for them.

Housing already have a good, established system in place for 
dealing with hospital discharge for both existing council tenants and 
homeless people and we are now working with the Single 
Homeless Project (SHP) to facilitate a smoother hospital discharge 
process. However, we realise that there are still stresses on 
hospital discharge and we are still working closely with Adult Social 
Services and Health Services to improve this process

P
age 21



Page 16 of 19

Recommendation Response to Recommendations What we have done over the past 12 months and future plans

Recommendation 13 (cont) manager in the council’s Homelessness 
Assessment Team for the hospital to contact before 
discharge. Where an existing council tenant is 
being discharge from hospital, there is also a 
dedicated manager in one of the Area Housing 
Offices for the hospital to contact before discharge.  

We will review how we work with social services 
and NHS services to see how we can tighten up 
this process, particularly in relation to disabled and 
vulnerable residents.  One improvement that is 
currently being explored is seeing if it is feasible for 
the hospitals to inform housing at the point of 
admission (rather than discharge) if a patient is a 
council tenant or homeless to give Housing 
Services more time to find suitable housing for 
them.

 Council tenants – There is a nominated manager in Housing 
who is first point of contact for discharge of tenants.  This 
manager works with the hospital discharge coordinators and 
clinical practitioners to facilitate a smooth discharge to ensure 
that the tenant’s property is ready for their return (e.g. arranging 
special cleanse of property and liaising with the repairs service 
over repairs and adaptations). If a person is being discharged 
from Whittington Hospital, University College Hospital, St 
Pancras Hospital or Highgate Mental Health Centre; the 
hospital should contact a designated office from the Single 
Homeless Project (SHP) “Home from Hospital” service. They 
will also liaise with Housing to help ensure that the transition 
from hospital to home is carried out as effectively. Housing 
continues to work with NHS services to ensure that they are 
notified of tenants due to be reduced from hospital as early as 
possible. 

 Homeless persons or those threatened with homelessness 
– If a person is being discharged from Whittington Hospital, 
University College Hospital, St Pancras Hospital or Highgate 
Mental Health Centre; the hospital should contact a designated 
office from the Single Homeless Project (SHP) “Home from 
Hospital” service.  SHP will refer the person to the Housing 
Needs Triage Team who will do an initial assessment of their 
housing needs.  If someone is being discharged from another 
hospital (from those listed above, they can make a referral to 
the council via the ALERT on-line portal)

A procedure and communication guidelines have now been agreed 
between Housing Services and Whittington Hospital for discharge 
of homeless persons or those threatened with homelessness.

One issue we are currently working on is how to deal with 
homeless people who are discharged from hospital but do not have 
proof of Islington residence or proper identification (passport or 
birth certificate). SHP are working with hospitals to help ensure that 
they flag this with patients as early as possible before they are 

P
age 22



Page 17 of 19

Recommendation Response to Recommendations What we have done over the past 12 months and future plans

Recommendation 13 (cont) discharged.  SHP will also help people source these documents or 
copies if they are not readily available.

Recommendation 14 - 
Service user groups should be 
invited to participate in the 
forthcoming review of the 
Council’s housing 
management services, and 
other service reviews as 
appropriate.

As mentioned under sections 4.6 and 4.11 of this 
report, we intend to involve the Housing Disability 
Panel in the future working arrangements of the 
Homes and Communities Service.  Housing 
Services also have three other established resident 
groups that get involved in the design of services 
and give feedback on, and scrutinise, existing 
services, namely:

 Housing Service Review Group
 Leasehold Reference Group
 Housing Management and Repairs Reference 

Group.

As mentioned in earlier parts of this report, Homes and 
Communities are looking to involve residents much more in the co-
design of services in the coming year. As well as relying on existing 
residents’ groups for feedback and input into service design we will 
be reaching out more widely to other groups to get a wider view on 
how we are doing and how we can improve our working practices. 
We are looking to hold discussion groups with residents who are 
“experts by experience” - these are residents who have experience 
of using specific housing services. The first of these focus groups 
will be with residents who have experienced domestic abuse.  

Service Ambassadors in the Homes and Communities Division 
have worked with residents on a number of issues (e.g. social 
isolation) in the past year and have met with residents, partners 
and external agencies. Activities have included door-knocking on 
estates to find out what residents think of services and visits to 
tenants over aged 75.

The next phase of the Service Ambassador programme will be 
focusing on our rent collection services from both a procedural 
perspective and residents’ needs. This will include:

 Understanding how our income recovery services, the wider 
Homes and Communities teams and teams across the council 
can take advantage of contacts, share information in a joined 
approach to help residents; identifying any barriers that might 
prevent this and identifying solutions. 

 Understanding the reasons residents fall into rent arrears with a 
focus on how active intervention at an early stage can prevent 
evictions 

Housing will also continue to involve residents in service design 
through our existing resident feedback groups.

P
age 23



Page 18 of 19

4. Implications

4.1 Financial Implications
Whilst the report proposes the implementation of a number of improvements and changes to current working practices, relationships and 
procedures within Housing, across the Council and with external partners. It is not anticipated that any of these changes in ways of working will 
require additional funding.

4.2 Legal Implications
 The council is under a duty to have due regard to the need to achieve the goals identified in paragraphs (a) to (c) of s149(1) of the Equality Act:

(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act;
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it;
(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it.

The council is also under a duty to make reasonable adjustments to the delivery of its housing services to ensure that disabled and vulnerable 
people can use the services and can communicate and engage with the Homes and Communities division.

Consideration of the council’s equalities responsibilities is evidenced in the responses to the recommendations made by the Housing Scrutiny 
Committee. 

4.3 Environmental Implications
There are no significant environmental implications related to the recommendations outlined in this report, although making information for 
residents available in a variety of formats, as well as on-line, may involve the printing of leaflets

4.4 Resident Impact Assessment
The council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and to 
advance equality of opportunity, and foster good relations, between those who share a relevant protected characteristic and those who do not 
share it (section 149 Equality Act 2010). The council has a duty to have due regard to the need to remove or minimise disadvantages, take steps 
to meet needs, in particular steps to take account of disabled persons' disabilities, and encourage people to participate in public life. The council 
must have due regard to the need to tackle prejudice and promote understanding. 

A Resident Impact Assessment (RIA) has not been completed at this stage. Where the proposals in the report may have equalities implications for 
residents, RIAs will be undertaken. For example, an RIA would be completed as part of consideration of moving more services on-line.

Appendices: N/A
Background papers: N/A

P
age 24



Page 19 of 19

Final report clearance:

Signed by:

Executive Member for Housing and Development Date: 15 April 2019

Report Author: Paul Byer, Service Improvement and Involvement Manager
Tel: 020 7527 4005
Email: Paul.Byer@islington.gov.uk

Financial Implications Author: Lydia Hajimichael 
Tel: 020 7527 5160
Email: lydia.hajimichael@islington.gov.uk

Legal Implications Author: Marina Lipscomb
Tel: 020 7527 3314
Email: marina.lipscomb@islington.gov.uk

P
age 25

mailto:Paul.Byer@islington.gov.uk
mailto:lydia.hajimichael@islington.gov.uk
mailto:marina.lipscomb@islington.gov.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank



HOUSING ON SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

SCRUTINY TOPICS AND WORK PROGRAMME 2018/19

23 APRIL 2019

1) Housing Services for Vulnerable People Review - 12-month report back
2) Scrutiny Review: Final Report (Responsive Repairs)
3) Work Programme 2018/19      

Page 27

Agenda Item B3



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	B1 Housing Services for Vulnerable People Review - 12-month report back
	B3 Work Programme 2018/19

